IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

ENRIQUE GARCIA,

OIA,

Appellant,

vs. : Case No. 64,841

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 28 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JERRY HILL
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Hall of Justice Building 455 N. Broadway Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830 (813)533-1184 or 533-0931

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Benito Torres, also known as Benito Contreras, was a regular customer of the West Farm Market near Palmetto. (R1286, 1987-1988,2005) He had traded with the market on credit, but the owners cut his credit off because he was not paying his bills. (R2005,2031)

At times Torres lived at the home of Connie and Jessie Martinez, which was near the market. (R1988-1990)

Willie and Martha West owned the Farm Market. (R1987) Willie was 69 years old, and his wife was 65. (R2018,2025) They employed Hazel Rosenna Welch as a clerk. (R1990,2002)

Cashing payroll checks was one of the services provided by the market, and large amounts of cash were kept inside, hidden in various places. (R1999,2003-2004) Rosenna Welch never cashed checks; Mrs. West did that. (R2003)

On the Monday before the crimes involved in this appeal took place, Benny Torres began concocting a plan to rob the West Farm Market. (R984-985,1444) He discussed the idea during that week with three friends with whom he worked at Harllee Farms. (R1504,1515) Torres said he intended to kill any witnesses to the robbery. (R1444,1505) All four men were in agreement on that. (R1505)

On Friday of that week, which was October 8, 1982, the four men entered the Farm Market in mid-morning. (R1144-1145,2006) They wanted to have some checks cashed, but Mrs. West advised them that the market did not have enough cash on hand to cash all the checks. (R1144-1145,2008) She suggested

they return later, after her husband returned from the bank with more money. (R1445,2008)

The men returned to the Farm Market around 1:00, arriving in a beige or tan, older car. (R1445,2010) Mrs. West told them they had almost waited too long to cash their checks because the market had cashed many checks since that morning, and the money had been depleted. (R2012) However, she agreed to cash as many checks as she could. (R2012)

One of the men said, "All right, that's it; let's go."

(R2013) He grabbed Mrs. West and he and one of the others

pushed her toward a back room. (R2013) All four men had pulled

out guns. (R2013)

Benny Torres had a gun pointed at Rosenna Welch. (R2015) One of the other men had her open the cash register and he poured money from the register into a blue bag that looked like a sock which Torres was holding. (R2015-2016)

Welch could hear Mrs. West telling the men there was no more money. (R2019) The men threatened to kill Mrs. West unless she gave them the money. (R2026)

Benny Torres took Welch into the back room, where she saw things in disarray. (R2023) He put her in a chair at the desk. (R2022) The men made the Wests lie on the floor. (R2024) Welch heard one shot and then several shots. (R2027) She whirled around and was shot herself several times, in the side, and in the stomach as the men were leaving. (R2027) Welch did not know who fired any of the shots. (R2028,2031) She waited until the four men left the market and she heard the car start up and leave, then she crawled into the front part of the

store. (R2028-2029) She was unable to telephone for help, as the men had disconnected the phone. (R2028)

Charles Campbell and his brother-in-law, Clete Fortwendel, entered the store as customers around 1:00 on that day. (R1010) They found Welch behind the counter. (R1010) She said, "I'm dying. I need help," and, "We'd been robbed and shot." (R1013,1022) In the back room the men found Mr. West and Mrs. West, who was making a gurgling sound. (R1014-1015, 1022-1023) Campbell went to the GM Cafe to summon aid. (R1014, 1022)

Belinda Daisey called an ambulance, then left the cafe to assist the people at the Farm Market. (R1036-1038) She saw a lady there sitting behind a counter, who said she had been robbed and shot. (R1036-1037) Daisey heard the woman say to Sheriff's Deputy Turner, "I was shot and robbed by three Mexicans, and one was Benny. They live right down the street. Two houses on the right." (R1042,1075-1076)

Paramedics Margaret Foy and Michael Keller found Mr. West to have some labored respiration and his heart was still beating. (R1079,1087) Mrs. West was in a similar condition. (R1079) Both people were unconscious and unresponsive the entire time the emergency medical technicians were working on them. (R1079) Both Mr. and Mrs. West went into full cardiac arrest before they arrived at Manatee County Memorial Hospital. (R1080,1088) When Mr. West arrived at the emergency room he had no pulse rate or blood pressure. (R1094) Mrs. West likewise had no spontaneous heartbeat or respiration and was unresponsive to stimuli. (R1101) Efforts to revive the Wests ceased within

about half an hour of their arrival at the hospital. (R1096-1097.1101-1102)

The cause of Willie West's death was a gunshot wound to the head. (R1136) Martha West died from multiple gunshot wounds of the head. (R1144) The shots were fired from a distance, as there was no stippling or powder burn around the wounds. (R1164-1165)

On the afternoon of October 8, Geraldo Gaona helped his brother-in-law, Appellant Enrique Garcia, spraypaint Garcia's light brown car black. (R1399-1404)

Garcia was arrested on the evening of October 8 just outside Bowling Green pursuant to a BOLO. (R1312-1315,1611)

On October 19, 1982 a Manatee County Grand Jury indicted Benito Torres, Louis Pina, Urbano Ribas, Jr., and Enrique Garcia for conspiracy to commit armed robbery with a firearm of Willie and Martha West, first degree premeditated murder of Willie West, first degree premeditated murder of Martha West, attempted first degree murder of Rosenna Welch, robbery of Rosenna Welch, robbery of Willie West, and robbery of Martha West. (R2531-2534) The attempted murder and the three robbery counts alleged that Benito Torres and Enrique Garcia carried firearms during the commission of these offenses. (R2533-2534)

The public defender's office was originally appointed to represent Garcia, but withdrew on November 8, 1982 due to a conflict of interest. (R3058-3059) An attorney in private practice, J. Roger Bone, was appointed to represent Garcia on December 15, 1982. (R2557)

After his arrest Garcia made four separate statements to law enforcement authorities, one of which, his December 30, 1982 statement to Deputy James McCrosson of the Manatee County Sheriff's Department, was the subject of a pretrial motion to suppress. (R2722-2723) The motion was heard by the Honorable Robert E. Hensley on November 1, 1983. (R2468-2507) Deputy McCrosson testified at the suppression hearing. (R2470-2484) He met Enrique Garcia on the morning of December 30, 1982 to transport him from Polk County Jail back to Manatee County Jail. (R2473) He did not intend to question Garcia, and did not advise him of his constitutional rights. (R2473,2475,2482-2483) He did ask Garcia if he had been treated fairly by the jailers in Polk County, to which Garcia responded that he had been treated fairly by some, and not by others. (R2473-2474)

Garcia asked McCrosson if he would be going down to court with his partners, Pina and Torres. (R2476) McCrosson answered that he would not be able to talk with his partners and that he did not know whether they would go to court together. (R2476)

Garcia also asked about his attorney and whether he would be able to talk to him before going to court. (R2476) McCrosson told Garcia he would probably be able to talk to his lawyer as soon as they got back. (R2476-2477) Garcia said he was "going to kill his attorney by choking him with his bare hands," and was going to sue the lawyer for not talking to him yet. (R2477) McCrosson asked Garcia who the attorney was, but he did not know his name. (R2477)

Later during the drive to Manatee County Garcia said he had spoken with someone from the state attorney's office who only wanted him to confess to something he did not do. (R2478-2479) He said, in essence, that he did not have anything to do with the crime, and then said he did not have any witnesses because he and his partners did not leave any, unless one of them told lies. (R2478-2479)

Garcia asked McCrosson about receiving his mail. (R2480) McCrosson said he would not be allowed to correspond with other inmates, but otherwise he should have no problem. (R2480)

Enrique Garcia also testified at the suppression hearing. (R2485-2492) McCrosson told him it was his lawyer's fault that the lawyer had not been to see him yet. (R2486) Until McCrosson told him, Garcia did not even know a lawyer had been appointed to represent him. (R2489) McCrosson's statement made him angry and hysterical. (R2486,2489-2490) Garcia testified that he did not bring up the subject of his lawyer, McCrosson did. (R2489-2490)

Garcia did not recall McCrosson asking him any questions about the incident (at the Farm Market), although McCrosson did ask him other questions after Garcia became angry. (R2486-2487)

Garcia did not make the statement about not leaving any witnesses, or any other incriminating statements during the drive with McCrosson. (R2488,2492)

After hearing argument of counsel the court merely denied the motion to suppress, without further comment. (R2505)

Garcia, through his counsel, filed various other pretrial motions in addition to the motion to suppress. These included several motions to dismiss (R2634-2644), a motion for

additional peremptory challenges (R2736), and a motion for change of venue with affidavits in support thereof. (R2738-2743)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial beginning on November 14, 1983, with Judge Hensley presiding. (R1)

Rosenna Welch, who survived the wounds she received at the Farm Market, testified at Garcia's trial concerning the incident on October 8, as discussed above. (R1986-2034)

The State also put into evidence the several statements Garcia made to law enforcement personnel. The first of these was made to Detective Gregory Stout of the Manatee County Sheriff's Department on the night of October 8, 1982. (R1337, 1360-1361) It was tape recorded at the Hardee County Sheriff's Department. (R1360-1361) After being advised of his Miranda 1/rights, Garcia told Stout he had loaned his car to Joe Perez, a friend of Benny Contrares, on October 4. (R1376-1377) Perez was only supposed to have the car for a couple of hours, but he did not bring it back. (R1378) When Garcia next saw it on the afternoon of October 8 the car, which was brown, had been painted black. (R1376,1389,1393) Benny had a little bundle of money and a small revolver. (R1385-1386) Benny said he was knee-deep in trouble because he had killed someone, and it would not matter to him if he killed again. (R1388)

The second statement was taped later the same night, October 8. (R1442) Before beginning to take this statement Stout told Garcia he thought he was lying, and informed Garcia of information Stout had received from Geraldo Gaona. (R1441)

 $[\]frac{1}{694}$ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d (1966).

Garcia asked Stout if he was not a "shooter" whether what would happen to him would be as bad as what would happen to a shooter. (R1441) Stout replied, "[I]f you did not actually take part in the shooting, what will happen to you will probably be less than the shooter." (R1441)

The tape began with Stout reading Garcia his Miranda rights. (R1442-1443) On the tape Garcia mentioned that Stout had told him he could get Garcia less time. (R1443-1444) Garcia then went on to describe the planning and carrying out of the robbery. (R1444-1478) Only Joe Perez and Benny Contrares had guns; they were the ones who did the shooting. (R1446,1449) Garcia did not see any of the shooting because he and Louis Pina were on the way to the car when it took place. (R1446-1447)

Before they went into the store Joe and Benny said they had to kill everyone so there would be no witnesses. (R1449)
But Garcia and Louis Pina said they were not going to kill anyone. (R1471)

Stout told Garcia that if he was telling the truth, what would happen to him would not be nearly as serious as what would happen to the shooters. (R1471)

Garcia told Stout he did not want to hurt anyone, but only wanted money. (R1473)

The tapes of the above interviews with Garcia were admitted into evidence over defense objections. (R1373)

Also played to the jury over objection was the tape of an interview Stout had with Garcia on October 11, 1982.

(R1490-1552) During this interview Garcia picked out a picture of Junior Ribas as being the man he knew as Joe Perez. (R1496-1497)

Stout told Garcia it was not going to change anything if he told them his entire involvement in the crime. (R1501)

Garcia described the planning of the robbery, which began on Monday when the four men were working at Harllee Farms. (R1504,1515)

When Junior was looking for money during the robbery, he gave his gun to Garcia to hold. (R1499)

Afterward, Benny told Garcia he had shot one of the ladies five times to make sure she was dead. (R1535,1551)

Finally, the State introduced the statements Garcia made to Deputy McCrosson during the ride to Manatee County. (R1725-1739) (McCrosson did not, however, testify about the threats Garcia made against his attorney.)

In addition to the statements Garcia made to the police, the State put into evidence admissions Garcia allegedly made to another inmate, Johnny Huewitt (who had been convicted of a felony three times (R1783)), when they both were in Manatee County Jail. (R1766-1802) According to Huewitt's testimony, Garcia admitted shooting a man and a woman at the Farm Market. (R1778-1779) Garcia supposedly also told Huewitt that he (Garcia) ran out of bullets and ordered one of his partners to shoot the second woman. (R1779,1788) Among those present during this conversation was Clarence Gissendanner. (R1798)

Gissendanner was called as the sole defense witness during the guilt phase of Garcia's trial. (R2058) He testified that Garcia never admitted shooting anyone. (R2059) Garcia said he and the others went to do a robbery, but Garcia did

not know there was going to be a shooting. (R2059) He and another participant were in the car when the shooting took place. (R2059) Garcia expressed remorse over the shootings. (R2059)

The two murder charges were submitted to the jury on theories both of premeditation and felony murder. (R2169-2171, 2173-2175) The jury returned specific verdicts of guilty of felony murder on these counts. (R2202,2792,2793) On the other counts, the jury found Garcia guilty as charged, but did not find that he carried a firearm during the attempted murder of Rosenna Welch. (R2202-2203,2791,2794-2797)

Sentencing phase of Garcia's trial took place on November 25, 1983. (R2206) The State presented no further evidence. (R2213) Maria Garcia, Appellant's sister, testified that Enrique was a loving brother who tried to help around the house and babysat for his brothers and sisters. (R2215-2216, 2219) There were eight children in the family. (R2215) Ricky (Enrique) left school at age 14 to work as a migrant farm worker to help his family. (R2217) He gave the money to his mother, keeping only a basic allowance for himself. (R2217)

Garcia got married when he was 18. (R2218) He was good to his two year old son. (R2219)

Josephine Garcia, Ricky's mother, testified that Ricky's father abandoned the family when Ricky was only six years old. (R2221) Mrs. Garcia earned money to raise her family by working in the fields. (R2221) She described the hard life she and Ricky endured as migrant farm workers. (R2221-2223)

Enrique Garcia testified that he had never been arrested for a felony. (R2227) As an adult he had never been arrested for any crime other than traffic offenses. (R2227-2228)

The court instructed the jury on the following aggravating circumstances: (1) the crime for which Garcia was to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in commission of or an attempt to commit the crime of robbery, and (2) the crime for which Garcia was to be sentenced was committed for avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. (R2259) The instruction on the latter circumstance was given over Garcia's objection. (R2208)

The court instructed the jury on these mitigating circumstances: (1) no significant history of prior criminal activity, (2) Garcia was merely an accomplice in the offense, and his participation was relatively minor, (3) Garcia's age, and (4) any other aspect of Garcia's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense. (R2259-2260)

The jury recommended by votes of eight to four that the court impose the death penalty for both Willie West's and Martha West's killing. (R2271,2846-2847)

On November 29, 1983 Garcia asked the court to order a presentence investigation prior to sentencing him and to grant him an additional sentencing hearing before the court at which he could present further evidence. (R2508-2512) The court initially agreed to a PSI "on all of those counts which do not have a minimum mandatory sentence" (R2511), but later reversed himself and did not require a PSI. (R2528) The court denied an additional sentencing hearing. (R2512)

Sentencing was held on December 14, 1983. (R2514-2529) The court imposed sentences of death upon Garcia for the two homicides. (R2529,2922-2923) He sentenced Garcia to 15 years on the conspiracy count, and a consecutive life sentence for the robbery of Rosenna Welch, with a three-year minimum mandatory. (R2528,2921,2924-2925) On Garcia's motion the court dismissed count four, for attempted murder. (R2528) On counts six and seven, for robbery of the Wests, the court imposed no sentence, but did adjudicate Garcia guilty. (R2528-2529,2919-2920)

In his written "Judgment" pertaining to the sentences of death the court found three aggravating circumstances and one mitigating. (R2926-2927, Appendix, pp.1-2)

None of the three other men indicted with Enrique Garcia received a sentence of death. (R3032-3033,3041-3042,3050-3051)

Garcia filed his notice of appeal on January 11, 1984. (R2943) His appointed counsel was permitted to withdraw from representing him further, and the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent him in this appeal. (R3008)

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

ENRIQUE GARCIA'S ABSENCE FROM SEVERAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT.

A number of times during the proceedings below counsel for Garcia purported to waive his presence. The first such time occurred at the pre-trial conference held on November 14, 1983. (R1-15) Defense counsel simply announced, "I will waive the presence of the defendant at this pre-trial conference." (R5-6) The court and the attorneys then discussed Garcia's motions for change of venue, additional peremptory challenges, and sequestration of the jury, as well as the procedures to be followed in selecting the jury. (R6-15)

The second instance occurred during a hearing as to whether Cindy Ziroll would be permitted to testify in court and identify Garcia as one of four men she saw in the parking lot of the West Farm Market on October 8, 1982, two of whom were sitting in a car and two of whom (including Garcia) were running from the building. (R1561,1563-1564,1568,1591) Defense counsel stated, "Yes, we will waive the presence of the defendant as to this particular hearing on in-court identification, your honor." (R1580) The court denied Garcia's motion to suppress Ziroll's in-court identification (R1591), but ultimately she was not called to testify before the jury. (This hearing was held in the middle of the trial.)

Garcia next was absent when the court and counsel took up defense objections to certain evidence on grounds chain-

of-custody had not been established. (R1872-1906) Garcia's attorney said (R1872):

MR. BONE: May it please the court, I have spoken with my client. I have advised him that at this hearing we will be discussing the admissibility of evidence based upon the chain of evidence and not substantive evidence being taken.

He has requested that he waive his presence and be allowed to go upstairs and have dinner.

This time Garcia was present when his counsel announced the waiver, and the court asked him, "Is that correct, Mr. Garcia?" (R1872) Garcia answered, "Yeah." (R1872)

Defense counsel also waived Garcia's presence at the conference on jury instructions, which was unreported. (R2090) He explained that he had talked with Garcia and given him the choice, and Garcia had expressed his desire to remain "upstairs" during the conference. $(R2090-2091)^{2/2}$

Counsel for Garcia next waived his presence during a discussion between the court and counsel concerning how to answer a question propounded by the jury. (R2196)

Later defense counsel told the court Garcia wished to wait upstairs for the verdicts, and to waive his presence if there were any further questions from the jury. (R2199) Garcia was present when his counsel made this statement, and counsel asked him, "If they have further questions, you want to waive your presence to the questions?" Garcia answered, "Yes." Garcia

²/ Counsel for the State and for Garcia agreed on the instructions that were given to the jury. (R2162)

said he just wanted "to stay up there," and told the court he was satisfied about everything. (R2199-2200)

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