IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 30 1985 ✓

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

ENRIQUE GARCIA,

Appellant, Cross Appellee

vs.

Case No. 64,841

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee, Cross Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

FRANK J. MIGLIORE JR.
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

FJM/cww

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

The trial court properly admitted evidence of three statements Appellant gave the police (Issue II).

He gave the first to a Det. Stout on a Friday evening; the second to Det. Stout on the following Monday morning. They are on tape.

Appellant fails to properly preserve objection to these two statements for appeal.

No improper promise of leniency infects the former. No attempt to delude Appellant infects the latter.

Appellant attempts to characterize his third statement, which occurred in a car while the Sheriff's office transported him to the Manatee County jail, as a response to the functional equivalent of questioning. It was not. Appellant simply blurted out an incriminatory statement. It is admissible.

Error, if any is harmless, in light of the rest of the evidence against Appellant.

Surviving victim Rosenna Welch's statements to Det. Stout, at the crime scene, prior to her transportation by ambulance to the hospital, sprang spontaneously and instinctively from the stress, pain and excitement the shootings caused. She made them so soon after the shooting that they preclude the idea of deliberation, fabrication or design (Issue III).

The trial court properly admitted them through the testimony of Det. Stout.

The trial court imposed no sentence on the two robbery charges (counts six and seven of the indictment) underlying Appellant's felony-murder convictions (counts two and three of the indictment).

It was not error to adjudicate Appellant guilty on the underlying convictions (Issue IV).

Appellant has no right to a PSI on the non-capital counts of his indictment (Issue V).

The State made no attempt to mislead jurors during final argument. If it did, then Appellant fails to demonstrate how the state misled them (Issue VI).

Neither did the court mislead jurors its answer to their concurrent life sentences question. The trial court responded with a specific answer which was a correct statement of the law. Appellant demonstrates no abuse of discretion (Isse VI).

Appellant engages mere speculation. He then attempts to cloak it beneath the mantle of constitutional infirmity.

Appellant misdirects his attack on comments by the State reference Appellant's sentence because the prosecutor made them to the Court after the Court discharged the jury (Issue VII A).

The comments were in any event proper. The evidence adduced at trial supports them.

The State rejects as an unsupported summary conclusion Appellant's argument, raised here and elsewhere, that the jury's felony-murder verdicts preclude any finding that the Appellant planned the victims deaths.

Appellant murdered the victims in order to avoid and prevent his own arrest (Issue VII B).

The trial court properly instructed the jury on the existence of this aggravating aspect of the killings. It properly found it in its amended judgment.

There is ample record support for the trial court' decision. It did not speculate. Neither did it impute the motives of another participant to Appellant.

What happened to the victims prior to their deaths set these crimes apart from the norm of capital felonies and justifies the trial court's finding that these murders were heinous, atrocious and cruel (Issue VII C).

The trial court properly denied admission of a photograph of Appellant's home for its failure to give a clear view of the home. It admitted three others. Appellant published just one to the jury (Issue VII D).

Appellant, having had one sentencing hearing, protests denial of another at which he acknowledged he planned to submit more evidence of the same nature submitted at the prior hearing (Issue VII D).

Finally, Appellant demonstrates no abuse of discretion in the trial court's failure to find several factors which may or may not constitute statutory mitigating circumstances (Issue VII D).

The Record amply demonstrates that the trial court did not merely rubberstamp the jury's recommendation of the death penalty (Issue VIII).

Assuming an erroneous jury instruction on the weight of a jury's recommendation of life or death, Appellant fails to preserve the issue for appeal. Error, if any, was harmless.

Appellant was the triggerman in the killings. This justifies imposition of the death penalty.

Alternatively: He aided and abetted the homicides, not just the underlying felonies. This justifies imposition of the death

penalty.

There is no reasonable hypothesis Appellant did not kill, attempt to kill or intend to kill the homicide victims (Issues IX - X).

ISSUE I

ENRIQUE GARCIA'S ABSENCE FROM SEVERAL STAGES
OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW VIOLATED HIS
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT.

Appellant claims his absence from the courtroom on a total of nine pre-trial, trial and post-trial occasions abrogated his fundamental constitutional rights. Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982).

Appellee distinguishes this case from Francis on the same basis this honorable court distinguished Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1982) from Francis:

At no time was Appellant absent from the courtroom during a "critical stage"¹ of his trial.

Conversely, he was present at all critical stages of the proceedings and available to consult with his counsel.

There is a second distinction. Francis and Hall were cases where the defendant's absence was involuntary.

Here, Appellant's voluntary absence during a non crucial portion of the trial is not error, irrespective of waiver by defense counsel: Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983).

In any event, the record below amply demonstrates that Appellant waived his presence either directly or through counsel.

A waiver is ordinarily an intentional relinquishment of a known right or privilege. The determination of whether there has been an intelligent waiver...[of the right to counsel].. must depend in each case upon the

1. Critical stages are "all stages of a trial when the defendant's absence might frustrate the fairness of the proceedings." United States v. Stratton, 649 F.2d 1066, 1080 (5th Cir 1981) (footnote omitted)

particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused.

Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 82 L.ED 1461, 58 S.Ct. 1019 (1938)

If the defendant has no objection to his counsel, counsel may waive objection to his absence and case law imputes actual or constructive knowledge of the proceedings to the defendant. Upon his re-appearance, defendant must acquiesce or ratify the actions his counsel took in his absence. State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Henzel v. State 212 So.2d 92, (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). Smith v. State, 453 So.2d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

The first incident occurs in chambers immediately prior to the beginning of jury qualification on Nov 14, 1983 (R 1-15).

Defense counsel waives Appellant's presence (R 5-6).

The court and attorneys discuss Appellant's motions for change of venue, additional peremptory challenges, sequestration of the jury and jury selection procedures (R 6-15).

Appellant's constitutional right to be present begins when the trial begins. The trial begins when selection of a jury to try the case commences. Melendez, supra, Shaw v. State, 422 So.2d 20 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). This is a pre-trial conference (R 5). Hence, there is no constitutional violation.

Furthermore, counsel's oral waiver of Appellant's presence, in open court, recorded and transcribed by the court reporter, obviated the writing requirement of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(3). Eastwood v. Hall, 258 So.2d 269 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972).

The second incident is a hearing on defendant's motion to suppress witness Cindy Ziroll's testimony that Appellant was one of two men she saw running from the West Farm Market on Oct. 8, while two others sat in a car (R 1561-1563-1564, 1568, 1591).

The hearing begins on a Saturday, Nov. 19. Appellant is in court. Ziroll identifies him (R 1563-1564).

The court recesses following Ziroll's testimony and reconvenes Monday, Nov. 21, 1983 (R 1578, 1579-1580).

Appellant's counsel now waives Appellant's presence at argument on the motion, (R 1580) which the court subsequently denies (R 1591).

However, Appellant cannot show prejudice: Ziroll never testifies!

In any event, no Appellate court has extended a defendant's right to be present at trial to an evidentiary hearing. United States v. Gradsky, 434 F.2d 880 (6th Cir 1971); Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 at 786 (1984). (Judge Hill, concurring)

The third incident is similar to the second in that Appellant absents himself from the courtroom during argument on defense objections to certain evidence on grounds that the State did not establish its claim of custody:

(In open court)

THE COURT: Members of the jury, we will recess for the evening at this time. We will reconvene in the morning at nine-thirty.

(Whereupon, the jurors left and the following proceedings occurred outside the presence of the jury:)

MR. BONE: May it please the court, I have spoken with my client. I have advised

him that at this hearing we will be discussing the admissibility of evidence based upon the chain of evidence and not substantive evidence being taken.

He has requested that he waive his presence and be allowed to go upstairs and have dinner.

THE COURT: Is that correct, Mr. Garcia?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: All right.

(R 1872)

See: Gradsky, supra; Hall, supra.

Appellant next complains of his absence at an unreported charge conference (R 2090). Once again, counsel waives his presence (R 2090-2091).

THE COURT: ... Let the record show that we have had an instruction conference and that the attorney for the defendant represented that the defendant waived his presence.

MR. BONE: I spoke with the defendant before we left and gave him the choice, and, again, he said he would rather be upstairs during the conference, when deciding sentences and the charges.

THE COURT: Also, let the record show that no prior rulings have been made at the conference. We were just discussing wording, and all objections will be put on the record as to any of the instructions given or not given. (R 2090-2091)

Failure to have the defendant present during a charge conference is not fundamental error. Defendant need not be present. Randall v. State, 346 So.2d 1233 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

Incidents five and six occur while the jury deliberates its verdicts.

Five: The jury sends the court this note:

Can we use the felony first degree murder law
in an attempted murder case, reference is to
count number four (signed: Stewart Anderson,
jury foreman)
(R 2197)

Appellant's counsel waives his presence. (R 2196)

The court writes "yes" on the note and returns it to the
jury. (R 2196).

Smith v. State, 453 F.2d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) holds that
error, if any, was harmless, when the trial court denied a jury
request to hear the penalties for lesser included offenses while
the defendant was absent, his counsel was present and counsel
expressly waived defendant's presence.

Subsequent to incident five and prior to incident six, the
court reconvenes so that it might discuss the jury's dinner
accommodations. The jury then resumes deliberation. (R 2198)
This discussion follows:

MR. BONE: I have had several
discussions with my client at this point,
being that he would rather go upstairs and
wait for the jury in the event of the
verdict. If they have further
questions, you want to waive your presence to
the questions?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

MR. BONE: If they ask about dinner?

THE DEFENDANT: I just want to stay up
there.

MR. BONE: That is your desire?

THE COURT: Are you satisfied about
everything? That is the point.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes

MR. GARDNER: Thank you.

(R 2199-2200)

The sixth incident occurs later the same evening when the jury asked to and did rehear the testimony of Geraldo Gaona, Garcia's brother-in-law. (R 2200-2201)

THE COURT: Before we bring the jury in, Mr. Bone, I understand that your client has waived his right to be here and in open court?

MR. BONE: Yes, sir, with Martha, that the court reporter has that down, and he indicated he would stay upstairs and wait pending the outcome, the final verdict.

He necessarily didn't want to be here for these preliminary type hearings and questions. He indicated that on the record.

For the record, I waive his appearance additionally.

MR. GARDNER: You understand that this is the giving of testimony?

MR. BONE: Yes, sir; it's not giving testimony; it's recanting [sic] testimony.

MR. GARDNER: But it is receiving testimony.

MR. BONE: They have already heard it. They are reviewing evidence.

THE COURT: Okay, bring the jury in... (R 2200)

The seventh and eighth incidents occur during jury deliberation of a recommended sentence.

This colloquy precedes their return to the courtroom.

MR. BONE: Your honor, it's my understanding that the reason we are reconvening at this juncture is to receive a verdict form for each count for which the defendant stands convicted, wherein the penalty of death by electrocution is the possible sentence.

I have previously discussed with my client coming back for questions and whatever. He has indicated he would not like to be here until the jury comes back with the verdict.

Additionally, I am doing this not only because he agreed and waived his presence,

but additionally, as the jury departed, while the jury was still present, while they were filing out of the room, even though my desk is approximately twenty-five to thirty feet from the front of the jury box, my client said to me, "I hope they give me death."

The court indicated he didn't hear it, nor the court reporter, who was located halfway between my desk and the jury box.

However, in an abundance of caution, because the defendant has requested specifically that I waive his presence at these hearings, we are waiving them for both reasons.

(R 2263-2264)

Finally, counsel waives Appellant's presence at a Nov. 29, 1983 post-trial hearing (R 2509). This is no basis to disturb Appellant's conviction. Luster v. State, 262 So.2d 910, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972).

Appellant cites Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984); and Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982) as supplementary authority on this issue.

They are inapplicable. They deal with defendant's absence at a critical stage of the trial.

Appellee iterates its position that Appellant was at no time absent during any critical stage.

Appellee nonetheless argues further: Hall, supra, reads Proffitt to hold that a defendant may not waive his presence at any critical stage of the trial. Hall, supra at 775.

However, notwithstanding its analysis, Proffitt, supra, specifically declines to decide the issue of whether presence at a capital trial is ever waivable. Proffitt, supra, at 312.

Judge Hill, in his concurring opinion in Hall analyzes the

same line of cases the Proffitt court analyzes² and concludes "that the defendant may waive his presence in a capital trial and that he may do so in any variety of ways." Hall, supra at 785.

Appellee respectfully submits that Judge Hill's is the better analysis.

In summary: The record allows no doubt that Appellant intentionally relinquished a known right. It is replete with waivers by both Appellant and his counsel in Appellant's absence.

At no time did his absence frustrate the fairness of the proceeding.

Appellant would both waive his presence and then claim constitutional infirmity. However, as the Third District wrote in another waiver case, State v. Belien, 379 So.2d 446, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980):

..."gotcha!" maneuvers will not be permitted to succeed in criminal any more than in civil litigation.

2. Diaz v. United States, 223 U.S. 442, 32 S.Ct. 250, 56 L.Ed 500 (1912); Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574, 4 S.Ct. 202, 28 L.Ed 262 (1884); Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed 2d 353 (1970); Lewis v. United States, 146 U.S. 370, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed 1011 (1892); Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 95 S.Ct 896, 43 L.Ed 2d 103 (1975).

ISSUE II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO
EVIDENCE AT ENRIQUE GARCIA'S TRIAL STATEMENTS
GARCIA MADE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT PERSONNEL.

Appellant does not properly preserve for appeal his challenge to the admissibility of taped statements numbers two and three. (States Exhibits #50A and #53)

The State informed Appellant long before trial it intended to use his statements (R 2609, 2560, 2576-2577, 2615, 2621, 2651-2652).

Nonetheless Appellant failed to file a pre-trial motion to suppress either statement¹.

Neither are his objections to either statement specific or contemporaneous. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, (Fla. 1982); Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983); Stanley v. State, 357 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978).

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